C ommit tee Ag en da

AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE SOUTH
Wednesday, 29th January, 2020
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Area Planning Sub-Committee South, which
will be held at:

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping
on Wednesday, 29th January, 2020
at 7.30 pm .
Georgina Blakemore
Chief Executive
Democratic Services
Officer

Democratic Services Tel: (01992) 564243
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:
Councillors G Mohindra (Chairman), A Patel (Vice-Chairman), R Baldwin, A Beales,
R Brookes, S Heap, R Jennings, J Jennings, H Kauffman, J Knapman, A Lion, L Mead,
S Murray, S Neville, M Owen, C P Pond, C C Pond, S Rackham, C Roberts, D Roberts,
B Sandler, J Share-Bernia, D Sunger and D Wixley

WEBCASTING/FILMING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council's internet site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is being filmed. The meeting may also be otherwise filmed by
third parties with the Chairman’s permission.
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection
Act. Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the
Council’s published policy.
Therefore by entering the Chamber and using the public seating area, you are
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound
recordings for web casting and/or training purposes. If members of the public do not
wish to have their image captured they should speak to the webcasting officer or
otherwise indicate to the Chairman before the start of the meeting.
If you have any queries regarding this,
Communications Manager on 01992 564039.

1

please

contact

the

Corporate

Area Planning Sub-Committee South

1.

Wednesday, 29 January 2020

WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION
1.

This meeting is to be webcast;

2.
Members are reminded of the need to activate their microphones before
speaking; and
3.

the Chairman will read the following announcement:

“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to the
internet (or filmed) and will be capable of repeated viewing (or another use by such
third parties).
If you are seated in the public seating area it is likely that the recording cameras will
capture your image and this will result in the possibility that your image will become
part of the broadcast.
This may infringe your human and data protection rights and if you wish to avoid this
you should speak the webcasting officer.”
2.

ADVICE TO PUBLIC AND SPEAKERS ATTENDING THE COUNCIL PLANNING
SUB-COMMITTEES (Pages 5 - 8)
General advice to people attending the meeting is attached.

3.

MINUTES (Pages 9 - 12)
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Sub-Committee held on 20
November 2019.

4.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

5.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To declare interests in any item on this agenda.

6.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, requires that the permission of
the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, before urgent
business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary agenda of which the
statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted.

7.

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN SUBMISSION VERSION - PLANNING
POLICY BRIEFING NOTE
A Planning Policy Briefing Note (March 2018) has been produced by the Planning
Policy Team to ensure that a consistent approach is taken to the provision of planning
policy advice for the District, particularly in relation to the Epping Forest District Local
Plan Submission Version, which was published on 18 December 2017.
The primary purpose of the Planning Policy Briefing Note is to inform the development
management process and to provide assistance for Development Management
Officers, Councillors, applicants and planning agents. The Planning Policy Briefing
2

Area Planning Sub-Committee South

Wednesday, 29 January 2020

Note is available at:
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-BriefingNote_Mar-2018.pdf
8.

SITE VISITS
To identify and agree requirements for formal site visits to be held with regard to any
planning application listed in this agenda, prior to consideration of the application.

9.

PLANNING APPLICATION - EPF/2501/19 GRANGE COURT 72 HIGH ROAD,
CHIGWELL (Pages 13 - 24)
To consider the attached report.

10.

PLANNING APPLICATION EPF/2502/19 - GRANGE COURT 72 HIGH ROAD,
CHIGWELL (Pages 25 - 36)
To consider the attached report.

11.

PLANNING APPLICATION - EPF/2764/19 11 KEY WEST COURT BLOCK B, 120
HIGH ROAD, CHIGWELL (Pages 37 - 44)
To consider the attached report.

12.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2):
Agenda Item No

Subject

Nil

Nil

Exempt
Information
Paragraph Number
Nil

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24
hours prior to the meeting.
Background Papers: Article 17 - Access to Information, Procedure Rules of the
Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion:
(a)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the
report is based; and

(b)

have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential
information and in respect of executive reports, the advice of any political
3

Area Planning Sub-Committee South

Wednesday, 29 January 2020

advisor.
The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the
meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.

4

Agenda Item 2
Advice to Public and Speakers at the Council’s District Development Management
Committee and Area Plans Sub-Committees
Are the meetings open to the public?
Yes all our meetings are open for you to attend. Only in special circumstances are the public
excluded.
When and where is the meeting?
Details of the location, date and time of the meeting are shown at the top of the front page of
the agenda along with the details of the contact officer and Members of the Committee.
Can I speak?
If you wish to speak you must register with Democratic Services by 4.00 p.m. on the
day before the meeting, by telephoning the number shown on the front page of the agenda.
Speaking to a Planning Officer will not register you to speak; you must register with
Democratic Service. Speakers are not permitted on Planning Enforcement or legal issues.
Who can speak?
Three classes of speakers are generally allowed: One objector (maybe on behalf of a
group), the local Parish or Town Council and the applicant or his/her agent. In some cases, a
representative of another authority consulted on the application may also be allowed to
speak.
What can I say?
You will be allowed to have your say about the application but you must bear in mind that
you are limited to three minutes. At the discretion of the Chairman, speakers may clarify
matters relating to their presentation and answer questions from Committee members.
If you are not present by the time your item is considered, the Committee will determine the
application in your absence.
If you have registered to speak on a planning application to be considered by the District
Development Management Committee, Area Plans Sub-Committee East, Area Plans SubCommittee West or Area Plans Sub-Committee South you will address the Committee from
within the Council Chamber at the Civic Offices. If you simply wish to attend a meeting of
any of these Committees to observe the proceedings, you will be seated in the public gallery
of the Council Chamber.
Can I give the Councillors more information about my application or my objection?
Yes you can but it must not be presented at the meeting. If you wish to send further
information to Councillors, their contact details can be obtained from Democratic Services or
our website www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk. Any information sent to Councillors should be
copied to the Planning Officer dealing with the application.
How are the applications considered?
The Committee will consider applications in the agenda order. On each case they will listen
to an outline of the application by the Planning Officer. They will then hear any speakers’
presentations.

Page 5

Revised ST (August 2017)

The order of speaking will be (1) Objector, (2) Parish/Town Council, then (3) Applicant or
his/her agent. The Committee will then debate the application and vote on either the
recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made by the Committee. Should
the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer recommendation, it is
required to give its reasons for doing so.
An Area Plans Sub-Committee is required to refer applications to the District Development
Management Committee where:
(a)

the Sub-Committee’s proposed decision is a substantial departure from:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

the Council's approved policy framework; or
the development or other approved plan for the area; or
it would be required to be referred to the Secretary of State for approval as
required by current government circular or directive;

(b)

the refusal of consent may involve the payment of compensation; or

(c)

the District Development Management Committee have previously considered the
application or type of development and has so requested; or

(d)

the Sub-Committee wish, for any reason, to refer the application to the District
Development Management Committee for decision by resolution.

Further Information
Further information can be obtained from Democratic Services or through our leaflet ‘Your
Choice, Your Voice’.

Page 6

Revised ST (August 2017)

Area Planning Subcommittee South 2019-20
Members of the Committee and Wards Represented:

Chairman
Cllr
Mohindra
Grange Hill

ViceChairman
Cllr Patel
Buckhurst Hill
West

Cllr
Baldwin
Loughton
Forest

Cllr Beales
Loughton
Forest

Cllr
Brookes
Loughton
Roding

Cllr Heap
Buckhurst Hill
East

Cllr B
Jennings
Loughton St
John’s

Cllr J
Jennings
Loughton St
Mary’s

Cllr
Kauffman
Loughton St
Mary’s

Cllr
Knapman
Chigwell
Village

Cllr Lion
Grange Hill

Cllr Mead
Loughton
Fairmead

Cllr Murray
Loughton
Roding

Cllr Neville
Buckhurst
Hill East

Cllr Owen
Loughton
Broadway

Cllr C C
Pond
Loughton
Broadway

Cllr C P
Pond
Loughton St
John’s

Cllr
Rackham
Grange Hill

Cllr C
Roberts
Loughton
Alderton

Cllr D
Roberts
Loughton
Alderton

Cllr Sandler
Chigwell Row

Cllr ShareBernia
Buckhurst Hill
West

Page 7

Cllr Sunger
Chigwell
Village

Cllr Wixley
Loughton
Fairmead

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL
COMMITTEE MINUTES
Committee:

Area
South

Place:

Council Chamber,
High Street, Epping

Members
Present:

A Patel (Chairman), R Baldwin, A Beales, R Brookes, S Heap, R Jennings,
J Jennings, L Mead, S Neville, C P Pond, C C Pond, S Rackham, C Roberts,
D Roberts and D Wixley

Other
Councillors:

None.

Apologies:

G Mohindra, H Kauffman, A Lion, S Murray, M Owen, B Sandler, J ShareBernia and D Sunger

Officers
Present:

M Johnson
(Development
Management
Manager),
V Messenger
(Democratic Services Officer) and S Mitchell (PR Website Editor)

55.

Planning

Sub-Committee

Civic

Offices,

Date:

Wednesday, 20 November
2019

Time:

7.30 - 8.20 pm

Appointment of Chairman
In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman, Councillor A Patel, acted as the
Chairman for this meeting, and also stated that he would be a voting chairman.

56.

Webcasting Introduction
The Chairman made a short address to remind all present that the meeting would be
broadcast on the Internet, and that the Council had adopted a protocol for the
webcasting of its meetings.

57.

Minutes
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2019 be taken as read
and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

58.

Declarations of Interest
(a)
Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor C C Pond
declared a non-pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of the
knowing the neighbour who was objecting to this application. The Councillor had
determined that he would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the
application and voting thereon:
•

EPF/1602/19 – 20 Wellfields, Loughton IG10 1NX

(b)
Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor S Neville
declared a non-pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of the
knowing the neighbour who was objecting to this application. The Councillor had
determined that he would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the
application and voting thereon:
Page 9
1

Area Planning Sub-Committee South
•

Wednesday, 20 November 2019

EPF/1602/19 – 20 Wellfields, Loughton IG10 1NX

(c)
Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor D Wixley
declared a non-pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of the
knowing the neighbour who was objecting to this application. The Councillor had
determined that he would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the
application and voting thereon:
•

59.

EPF/1602/19 – 20 Wellfields, Loughton IG10 1NX

Any Other Business
It was noted that there was no other urgent business for consideration by the SubCommittee.

60.

Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version - Planning Policy
Briefing Note
It was noted that the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version Planning
Policy Briefing note was available at:
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-BriefingNote_Mar-2018.pdf

61.

Site Visits
There were no formal site visits requested by the Sub-Committee.

62.

Planning Application - EFP/1602/19 20 Wellfields, Loughton
APPLICATION No:

EPF/1602/19

SITE ADDRESS:

20 Wellfields
Loughton
Essex
IG10 1NX

PARISH:

Loughton

WARD:

Loughton St Marys

DESCRIPTION OF
PROPOSAL:

Glazed lantern on the existing rear single storey roof,
use of the existing garage as study, 3 no. new dormers
to the front elevation and a widening of the existing rear
roof extension
Grant Permission (With Conditions)

DECISION:

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=625619

CONDITIONS
1

The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this notice.

Page 10

2

Area Planning Sub-Committee South
2

Wednesday, 20 November 2019

The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in
accordance with the approved drawings numbers:
SR410D SR420D SR421D SR430D SR431D SR435D SR440D
Site Location Plan

63.

3

Materials to be used for the external finishes of the proposed
development shall match those of the existing building, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

4

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, no window or
other opening (other than those shown on the submitted and approved
plan), shall be formed in the flank walls of the proposed rear dormer plan
numbers: SR430D and SR40D hereby permitted, unless specific
permission under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 has first been sought and obtained in writing from the Local
Planning Authority.

5

This permission does not include the air conditioning unit to the rear
elevation at first floor level/roof of the rear single storey extension, for
which planning permission is required.

Planning Application - EPF/2166/19 Rose Cottage 17 Powell Road, Buckhurst
Hill
APPLICATION No:

EPF/2166/19

SITE ADDRESS:

Rose Cottage
17 Powell Road
Buckhurst Hill
Essex
IG9 5RD

PARISH:

Buckhurst Hill

WARD:

Buckhurst Hill West

DESCRIPTION OF
PROPOSAL:
DECISION:

Conversion of detached garage to habitable space.
Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=628076

CONDITIONS
1

The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this notice.

2

The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in
accordance with the approved drawings numbers:

Page 11

3

Area Planning Sub-Committee South

Wednesday, 20 November 2019

2019.019.PA- 01
2019.019.PA- 02
2019.019.PA- 03
2019.019.PA- 04
2019.019.PA- 05
2019.019.PA- 06
2019.019.PA- 07A
2019.019.PA- 08
2019.019.PA- 09
2019.019.PA- 10A
2019.019.PA- 11
2019.019.PA- 12
2019.019.PA- 13
3

Materials to be used for the external finishes of the proposed
development shall match those of the existing building, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

4

The proposed development shall only be used as ancillary
accommodation for the existing dwellinghouse and shall not be occupied
as a unit separately from the dwelling known as Rose Cottage, 17 Powell
Road, Buckhurst Hill.

5
No development shall take place until full details of soft landscape works
have been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. These works shall be carried out as approved. The details of
soft landscape works shall include plans for planting or establishment by
any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants,
including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where
appropriate. The planting shall be capable of growing to an established
height of at least 1.7m. If within a period of five years from the date of the
planting or establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub,
or plant or any replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or
becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant
of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at
the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written
consent to any variation.
6

Prior to any above ground works, details of tree planting, including
positions or density, species and planting size(s) and a timetable for
implementation (linked to the development schedule) shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works
shall be carried out as approved. If within a period of five years from the
date of planting any tree, or replacement, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another
tree of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be
planted at the same place unless the Local Planning Authority gives it's
written consent to any variation.

CHAIRMAN

Page 12

4

Agenda Item 9

Epping Forest District Council
War
Memorial

ns Nursery

King's Head
Cottage

1

EFDC
Hall

KI
NG
S

M
EW
S

3

El Sub Sta

Grange
Court

Posts

72

EFDC
Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:

EPF/2501/19

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

Grange Court 72 High Road
Chigwell IG7 6PT
1:500

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 13

APPLICATION No:

EPF/2501/19

SITE ADDRESS:

Grange Court
72 High Road
Chigwell
IG7 6PT

PARISH:

Chigwell

WARD:

Chigwell Village

APPLICANT:

Mr Stephen Ashton

DESCRIPTION OF
PROPOSAL:

Variation of condition 2 `Plan numbers' of EPF/3275/17
(Grade II* listed building consent for conversion, extension
and partial demolition of existing building to provide 14 flats
with associated parking and landscaping. Change of use
from residential school building (Use Class C2) to
residential (Use Class C3)) - alterations to layout within
listed building, and to layout and elevations in the
extensions

RECOMMENDED
DECISION:

Refuse Permission

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=629481

REASON FOR REFUSAL
1

The proposed alterations to the Grade II* Listed Building would result in
significant and substantial harm to the form and character, historic layout
and fabric, and legibility of the listed building, introducing modern built
elements not characteristic to a building of the age and style, substantially
altering the internal and external built form, and removing and subdividing
parts of the building which are of significant importance to the fabric,
appearance and legibility of its form. Such works would thereby be contrary
to policies HC10, HC12, DBE2 and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and
Alterations, policies DM7, DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Local Plan
Submission Version (2017), and the NPPF, particularly paragraphs 184, 193
and 196.

2

The alterations to the extension in terms of the treatment of the glazed link
to the Listed Building and the north east elevation in particular, together with
other alterations, result in a lessening of the visual and spatial separation
from the listed building, and in an increase in the appearance of mass and
bulk resulting in an inappropriate dominance of the listed building,
detrimental to the character of the site, to general amenity and to the wider
Conservation Area, contrary to policies HC6, HC7, HC10, HC12, DBE1,
DBE2 and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, policies DM7,
DM9 and DM10 of the Local Plan Submission Version (2017), and the
NPPF.

Page 14

EPF/2501/19
This application is before this Committee since it has been ‘called in’ by Councillor
Knapman (Pursuant to The Constitution Part 3: Part Three: Scheme of Delegation to
Officers from Full Council)).
Description of Site:
The application site comprises a detached Grade II* listed building on the south-east side of
High Road. The main element of the building comprises a 3-storey mansion house, with
single storey side wings on both flanks. Investigative works to the building, following
approvals in March 2018, commenced in 2019 and included stripping out, the demolition of
a dilapidated rear addition and removal of parts of the roof. The property dates from the late
18th Century being originally built as a single dwelling house. Parts of the building are
known to have been remodelled by Sir Edwin Lutyens. The building was last used by
Chigwell School and has been empty since late 2016, during which time the condition of the
building has deteriorated.
The main building is set some 33m back from the road edge with an informal parking area
to the front. There is a 30m deep rear garden which slopes down to the south east. The
application site is surrounded on three sides by residential properties, which would have
originally formed part of the wider plot of Grange Court, buildings to the north east believed
to have been stables and land to the rear a larger garden. The building lies opposite St
Mary’s Church Hall. A public footpath runs along the south-western site boundary between
High Road and Meadow Way.
The site and much of the surrounding area is within the Chigwell Conservation Area.
Description of Proposal:
The applications (section 73 applications varying the approved planning permission and
listed building consent drawings) seek amendments to a previously approved scheme for
extensions to and conversion of the existing building to provide 14 flats, 8 in the converted
building and 6 in the extension. The proposals include alterations to both the listed building
and the extension. Main changes within the listed building comprise:
-

-

-

Installation of a lift into the centre of the listed building, including associated works of
a lift shaft through all floors and overrun at roof level
Alterations to the entrance to the building. This would now be located on the front of
the building through the existing portico with the formation of a new entrance
passage to the lift.
An infill ground floor extension in front of the location of the approved entrance (on
the east side of the building) to enlarge flat G2 from a one-bedroom unit to a twobedroom unit.
Internal reconfiguration of flat G3 extending to incorporate part of the communal
hallway.
Removal of the centre part of the roof to create a roof terrace and to house the lift
overrun.

Within the extension, key alterations include:
-

Increase in the length of the building of around 825mm
Formation of a basement area below the stair and lift core and relocation of the lift
Elevational changes to the south west elevation including flush rather than projecting

Page 15

-

-

balconies at ground and first floor, fenestration alterations at ground and first floor
and additional windows in the mansard roof, and revisions to the link block glazing.
Elevational changes to the north-east elevation, replacing four projecting bays with
two wider bays (of similar overall width, removal of first floor stairwell window and
installation of larger high-level window at roof level, and revisions to the link block
glazing consistent with the south west elevation.
Installation of bedroom windows in the rear elevation on all floors.

The frontage layout at this stage shows 20 parking spaces, and provision for refuse and
cycle storage in the same positions as approved previously.
Relevant History:
There are various historic applications including more recently
:
EPF/1406/10 Conversion of Grange Court, Chigwell School from a boarding house to a
Pre-Prep School, including a new single storey extension, internal and
external refurbishment and associated landscaping works. (Revised
application) – Refused and dismissed at appeal. The related Listed Building
Consent application (EPF/1408/10) was similarly refused and dismissed at
appeal
EPF/3367/16 Conversion, extension and partial demolition of existing building to provide
14 flats with associated parking and landscaping. – Refused on grounds of
the impact of extensions on adjoining properties, the harm caused by
extensions to the special character of the building and the impact on the
Conservation Area from loss of trees.
A related Listed Building application (EPF/3372/16) was also refused on
design of the extensions, lack of information on specific listed building works
and viability, and inappropriate sub-division of some elements of the building.
EPF/3264/17 Conversion, extension and partial demolition of existing building to provide
14 flats with associated parking and landscaping. Change of use from
residential school building (Use Class C2) to residential (Use Class C3). This
and the related Listed Building consent application (EPF/3275/17) were
approved in March 2018.
Policies Applied:
Adopted Local Plan:
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990 Act"),
requires that in determining any planning application regard is to be had to the provisions of
the Development Plan, so far as is material to the application and to any other material
planning considerations.
Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan currently comprises the Epping
Forest District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006).
The following policies within the current Development Plan are considered to be of
relevance to this application:

Page 16

CP1
CP2
CP5
CP6
CP7
HC1
HC6
HC7
HC10
HC12
HC13
H2A
H4A
DBE1
DBE2
DBE3
DBE8
LL8
LL10
LL11
ST1
ST2
ST4
ST5
ST6

Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives
Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment
Sustainable Building
Achieving sustainable urban development patterns
Urban Form and Quality
Scheduled monuments and other archaeological sites
Character, Appearance and setting of Conservation Areas
Development within Conservation Areas
Works to Listed Buildings
Development affecting the setting of Listed Buildings
Change of use of Listed Buildings
Previously Developed Land
Dwelling Mix
Design of New Buildings
Effect on Neighbouring Properties
Design in Urban Areas
Private Amenity Space
Works to preserved trees
Adequacy of provision for landscape retention
Landscaping schemes
Location of Development
Accessibility of development
Road Safety
Travel Plans
Vehicle Parking

NPPF (February 2019):
The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in February 2019. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against which
applications for planning permission are decided.
Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the NPPF
explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing the
development plan, and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning policies
and decisions must also reflect relevant international obligations and statutory
requirements.2"
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable development
and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed 6; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole."

Page 17

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.
In summary, the effect of footnote 7 is that where a local planning authority is unable to
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites in accordance with paragraph
73 of the NPPF, or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing
was substantially below (that is less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous
three years, “the policies which are most important for determining the application” are
deemed to be “out-of-date”, so that the presumption in favour of sustainable development
applies and planning permission should be granted unless either sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) is
satisfied.
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 6 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, or
Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage
assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); and areas at risk of
flooding.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not, however, change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. In
accordance with paragraph 213 of the NPPF and subject to paragraph 11 d) and footnote 7
referred to above, policies in the development plan should not be considered out-of-date
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight
should be given to such policies according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in
other words the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given to them)
In addition to paragraph 11, the following paragraphs of the NPPF are considered to be of
relevance to this application:
2 – Achieving sustainable development – paragraphs 10, 12
5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
12 – Achieving well designed places – paragraphs 128, 130
16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – paragraphs 189 -196, 198, 199

Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017:

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District Local
Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the Secretary of State
and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a material consideration to be
used in the determination of planning applications.
The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018. The
Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held examination
hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the examination process, the
Council has asked the Local Plan inspector to recommend modifications of the LPSV to
enable its adoption.
During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the LPSV
were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2 August
2019, the Inspector provided the Council with advice on the soundness and legal
compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter, the Inspector concluded

Page 18

that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the emerging Local Plan are required
to enable its adoption and that, in some cases, additional work will need to be done by the
Council to establish the precise form of the MMs.
Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as material to
the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of the Framework, the
LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
a)
The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation,
the greater the weight that may be given);
b)
The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
c)
The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the
NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).22"
Footnote 22 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan is
being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as is the
case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the previous version of the
Framework published in March 2012.
As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage, subject
to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant weight should be
accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of Framework.
The following policies in the LPSV are considered to be of relevance to the determination of
this application, with the weight afforded by your officers in this particular case indicated:
POLICY
SP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SP7 Natural Environment, landscape character and
green infrastructure
H1
Housing mix and accommodation types
DM7 Heritage Assets
DM8 Heritage at risk
DM9 High Quality Design
DM10 Housing design and quality
DM15 Managing and reducing flood risk
DM19 Sustainable water use
DM22 Air Quality

WEIGHT AFFORDED
Significant
Significant
Some
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant

Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received
Date of site visit:
01 August and 22 November 2019
Number of neighbours consulted:
29
Site notice posted:
22 November 2019
Responses received:
No response received from neighbours.
Parish Council:
Chigwell Parish Council have commented and strongly supports the
application, ‘because this project would allow the restoration of a significant Grade II* listed
building, which is an important part of Chigwell’s heritage’.
Other statutory consultee comments:
Historic England have objected to the application, which it argues would result in an
unjustified harm to the historic building. It has been demonstrated by the original application

Page 19

that a sustainable re-use of this former school building by conversion to multiple residential
use can be achieved while avoiding this level of harm. The level of harm in the consented
scheme was noted by us at the time as considerable. These proposed amendments would
significantly increase loss of historic fabric and disruption of legibility of the original plan
form. Such an increase in harm would be significant, and is clearly not acceptable when
considered against the considerations set out in the NPPF.
The introduction of the roof terraces would require considerable further harm, from the
redesign of the historic roof-form of the listed building, and introduce alien forms not usually
associated with houses of this age and distinction. In preventing the restoration of the roof in
its original form, in all its complexity, it would block works essential to reinstate an important
part of the listed building, that has been dismantled, we understand, without appropriate
consent, that was indicative of the building’s significance would be permanently lost.
Internally the introduction of the lift at the centre of the main block raises concerns relating
to its impact on the historic plan-form of the building, and surviving historic fabric and
finishes. A lift located in such a prominent position within the original house would have a
considerable visual presence. It would impact on key historic spaces and result in the loss
of historic fabric of walls, floors and ceilings that would need to be broken through to form
new openings. The new lift enclosure would involve the subdivision of the central room on
the garden front of the house on the ground and first floors. Both of these rooms are spaces
of considerable historical interest, with surviving historic proportions and joinery. The
changes, if they were to be carried out, would destroy the ability to appreciate the rooms as
historical spaces, and would displace or conceal a proportion of the original joinery and
other interior features. This would adversely affect the future understanding and
appreciation of the historic building.
Main Issues and Considerations:
The primary considerations with the applications is the impact of the alterations of the
historic fabric and character of the Listed Building. Changes to the extension have been
considered in the context of the relationship with surrounding properties and the alterations
to the elevational treatments.
Listed Building issues
The significance of Grange Court
Grange Court was built in 1774; it has a handsome Georgian façade of classical design.
Internally the majority of the principal rooms survive without subdivision and with important
architectural features. The buff brick house with red brick and stucco dressings was
refurbished by Sir Edwin Lutyens for his friend Sir Charles Baring in the early 20th century.
The grand status of the house is reflected by the large drive at the front. The site has a long
and complex history and played a prominent role in the history of the settlement of Chigwell.
It is the completeness of the plan form, quality of the architecture and the building’s clear
legibility as a fine example of its Georgian type, overlaid with Edwardian work that makes it
deserving of its grade II* listed status. This places it in the top 5.5% of buildings in the
country.
Sir Edwin Lutyens
Sir Edwin Lutyens (1869-1944) was initially an Arts and Crafts architect, who became
known for being able to imaginatively adapt traditional designs to the requirements of his
clients. He is responsible for many country houses, public buildings and war memorials and
has been described as equal to that of the best domestic architects of his time.
Evolution of development proposals

Page 20

The initial applications for the development were refused in 2017 when both the Council and
Historic England raised concerns that the level of intervention to the historic building was
excessive. The approved scheme approved in 2018 was developed after comprehensive
and cooperative discussions aimed at finding a viable development option for the site. This
included substantial works to the roof frame including removal of joists, works to improve
structural safety, extensive repairs and the installation of a steel frame. These works did not
include removal of any part of the external roof cladding or the frame however, and the
removal of the roof that has taken place is considered to be unlawful. A schedule of
reinstatement works has been sought but has not been forthcoming.
The extent of the works undertaken to date could be argued to be materially different to the
approved scheme, particularly in the context that no applications have been submitted
seeking to discharge conditions on the approved scheme.
In this context, the key amendments to the proposals are considered further.
Insertion of the lift within the Listed Building
As part of Historic England (HE) guidance, the location of a lift into a historic building should
be considered carefully. The guidance states that:
“Passenger and platform lifts are best located in the less-sensitive parts of historic buildings, for
example secondary staircases and light wells or in areas that have already been disturbed or altered.
Pits and openings for lift shafts should be carefully located to avoid loss or damage to significant
timbers, archaeological remains or decorative surfaces.”
The intended location of the passenger lift in Grange Court is through the central core of the
historic building, and therefore cannot be considered to be located in a less sensitive part of
the building and would in fact result in changes to the layout configuration and as a result
will cause irreversible loss of historic fabric by way of loss of timbers and decorative
surfaces in the form of original floors, ceilings, cornicing and panelling will be lost over the
full three storeys. This is contrary to the more considerate approach that had been taken in
the approved 2017 scheme where, for example, bathroom “pods” standing short of the
existing ceiling height to preserve historic cornicing and ceiling, had been agreed.
Grange Court has undergone several phases of development which are still readable today.
This is due to the fact that these successive architectural interventions have respected and
worked with the building to add to it, increasing the building’s significance over time. This
historic layout is particularly vulnerable to inappropriate changes.
The consent granted in 2017 ensured that the layout of Grange Court, as a typical Georgian
mansion, was still readable after its conversion. As a compromise, it was agreed to lose the
line of sight (front to garden circulation) and to insert a door (at a natural break point)
between the Lutyens staircase and corridor.
The insertion of the lift will cause changes to the historic layout that will result in the loss of
significant plan forms. Amongst these changes is the creation of a new communal entrance
hall through the partitioning of the original entrance vestibule. This will distort the reading of
this historic entrance room and sense of space, eroding its status. Evidence for the entirety
of this room is demonstrated through the heights of the dado around the room. The height of
the dado to the left of the entrance door (on entering) is the original (Georgian) height. The
dado to the rest of the room, which is higher, is a later replacement fitting. This is confirmed
through the photographs in the applicants’ submitted Ground Floor Historic Analysis report.
A further impact of providing access to the lift is the division of the Lutyens corridor and
staircase which will diminish the appreciation of their presence and completeness. This

Page 21

includes the inclusion of part of the corridor into apartment G3, and in the north-eastern part
of the building, a room designed by Lutyens has been split into two spaces with a staircase
inserted into one half. This would result in a further fragmentation of the internal layout
through partitioning and loss of historic fabric harming the original intention of the room, its
volume and completeness. This will prevent these significant areas from being fully
experienced. This is in your officers view the additional contribution of these areas,
designed by Lutyens, that makes Grange Court of more than special interest and
designated at grade II*.
The level of harm resulting from the loss of interior features and structural elements is
considered to be unacceptable as it would irreversibly diminish and erode the significance
and character of the building.
Alterations to the original roof
At roof level, a significant section in the centre of the building is proposed to be removed to
allow the formation of a pair of terraces connected through a communal hallway and the lift
overrun which will also create a new structure on the roof. No sections accompany the
application to detail the extent of these elements in a wider context. However, the
introduction of the roof terraces would require considerable further harm, from the redesign
of the historic roof-form of the listed building, and introduce alien forms not usually
associated with houses of this age and distinction. In preventing the restoration of the roof in
its original form, in all its complexity, it would block works essential to reinstate an important
part of the listed building. These changes will give the roof an uncharacteristic and
unexpected form which, despite not being visible from the immediate street frontage, will
irreversibly alter its significance and may be visible from wider perspectives.
Ground floor infill extension
An infill extension is indicated at ground floor behind the front façade of the listed building to
provide a new entrance and additional floorspace to Flat G-2. This would result in the loss of
18th & 19th century external wall due to the opening up of the internal space within this flat.
The flank wall is proposed to be rendered with a monopitch roof, elements inconsistent with
the remainder of the elevational treatment. No reference is made to this significant alteration
or its impact on both the historic layout and fabric of the building in the application
documents, as required by paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2019).
Changes to the form of the extension
The principle of adding a large extension has been accepted and the minor increase in the
overall footprint is not considered significant. Other elements however raise concerns at the
balance between the financial need for the extension and the potential impact of the form,
scale and mass on the listed building;
-

-

The glazed link connecting the original building and the new extension has an
increased number of glazing bars obfuscating the intention of a minimalist design
approach. This creates an unwanted greater closeness between the listed building
and the new extension and reinforces the dominance of the extension over the
original building and the rear façade. This is a particularly sensitive location as the
part of the listed building where the link is attached, stands lower. A much clearer
separation was supported previously with a frameless link, denoting the old from the
new and reducing the pressure on the rear façade.
The inset elements around the windows have been overly enlarged in height and
width and are no longer in line with the adjacent openings, which results in a less
neat façade composition.

Page 22

-

The increase in the number of dormers, added to a change in the roof profile adds to
the bulk of the roof.
The north-east elevation has been over simplified by the reduction in the number of
projecting bays. This now reads more as a back of the building rather than an
integral part of a holistic built form

These issues are supported by Historic England’s assessment of the proposals. Officers
conclude that the proposals would cause an unacceptable level of harm to the significance
of the grade II* listed building, irreversibly eroding its historic fabric, layout and built form.
Impact on neighbours
Adjacent properties located to the north-east and south-east are most directly affected by
the proposed extension. As discussed above, the north-east elevation has been significantly
simplified and now reads very much as the back of the development. The alterations to the
form have improved the layout of the flats internally and this needs to be balanced against
the potentially harmful impact of the limited elevational interest. If members are minded to
approve the principle, this matter could in your officer’s view be addressed by breaking up
the elevation with further detailing.
The overall scale of the building is consistent with the previously approved scheme where
the overall height was approved ad not substantially impacting on daylight and sunlight. The
minor increase in depth of around 825mm is in the context of the overall scale of the
building not considered to have a material additional impact.
Bedroom windows are also introduced into the rear face of the building, previously a blank
façade. The windows do not face directly into habitable rooms and a minimum separation of
18m remains. As such limited impact from overlooking will result.
Epping Forest SAC
The site lies within 3km of the Epping Forest SAC. However, as the application proposes
amendments to an extant permission and does not propose additional residential units, no
additional impact beyond that already considered will result.
Conclusion:
Grange Court is a fine example of a Georgian residence. Alterations of considerable
significance, and more than local note, were carried out by Sir Edwin Lutyens, one of
Edwardian England’s most acclaimed architects, and have contributed to the building’s
significance, reflected in its listing at Grade II*. Members should give considerable weight in
considering the application to the comments made by Historic England who have objected
strongly to the application.
The need to refurbish the building to secure its long-term future has been recognised, both
in the support for the enabling development and in the previously agreed alterations to the
listed building. Nothing in the application suggests that approved scheme is not capable of
implementation.
However, the proposed amendments amount to a significant and harmful intervention to the
existing building, introducing alien, evidently modern features out of context with the
character and history, and disrupting the legibility of the historic form notwithstanding any
historic alterations and the works previously agreed. The result would irreversibly erode its
significance through the loss of its historic layout, building form and historic fabric.

Page 23

The alterations to the extension have resulted in changes to the relationship between the
listed building and the extension. In particular, the changes to the link block have clouded
the separation between the historic building and the new addition, and the over
simplification of the north-east elevation results in a more bulky built form not in keeping
with the character of the site. While these matters may be capable of further evolution, in
the context of the other elements in the application these add to the significance of the
impact of the extension on the listed building.
Officers consider that the extensive harm to the listed building clearly outweighs any limited
benefits from the proposals. Procedurally however, Members should be aware that should
they reach a different view, then the application would need to be referred to the Secretary
of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government under Section 13 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and related directions due to the
unresolved objection from Historic England.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the Monday preceding the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 24

Agenda Item 10

Epping Forest District Council
War
Memorial

ns Nursery

King's Head
Cottage

1

EFDC
Hall

KI
NG
S

M
EW
S

3

El Sub Sta

Grange
Court

Posts

72

EFDC
Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:

EPF/2502/19

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

Grange Court 72 High Road
Chigwell IG7 6PT
1:500

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 25

APPLICATION No:

EPF/2502/19

SITE ADDRESS:

Grange Court
72 High Road
Chigwell
IG7 6PT

PARISH:

Chigwell

WARD:

Chigwell Village

APPLICANT:

Mr Stephen Ashton

DESCRIPTION OF
PROPOSAL:

Variation of condition 2 `Plan numbers' of EPF/3264/17
(Conversion, extension and partial demolition of existing
building to provide 14 flats with associated parking and
landscaping. Change of use from residential school
building (Use Class C2) to residential (Use Class C3) - alterations to layout within listed building, and to layout and
elevations in the extensions.

RECOMMENDED
DECISION:

Refuse Permission

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=629482

REASON FOR REFUSAL
1

The proposed alterations to the Grade II* Listed Building would result in
significant and substantial harm to the form and character, historic layout
and fabric, and legibility of the listed building, introducing modern built
elements not characteristic to a building of the age and style, substantially
altering the internal and external built form, and removing and subdividing
parts of the building which are of significant importance to the fabric,
appearance and legibility of its form. Such works would thereby be contrary
to policies HC10, HC12, DBE2 and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and
Alterations, policies DM7, DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Local Plan
Submission Version (2017), and the NPPF, particularly paragraphs 184, 193
and 196.

2

The alterations to the extension in terms of the treatment of the glazed link
to the Listed Building and the north east elevation in particular, together with
other alterations, result in a lessening of the visual and spatial separation
from the listed building, and in an increase in the appearance of mass and
bulk resulting in an inappropriate dominance of the listed building,
detrimental to the character of the site, to general amenity and to the wider
Conservation Area, contrary to policies HC6, HC7, HC10, HC12, DBE1,
DBE2 and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, policies DM7,
DM9 and DM10 of the Local Plan Submission Version (2017), and the
NPPF.

Page 26

EPF2502/19
This application is before this Committee since it has been ‘called in’ by Councillor Knapman
(Pursuant to The Constitution Part 3: Part Three: Scheme of Delegation to Officers from Full
Council)).
Description of Site:
The application site comprises a detached Grade II* listed building on the south-east side of
High Road. The main element of the building comprises a 3-storey mansion house, with
single storey side wings on both flanks. Investigative works to the building, following
approvals in March 2018, commenced in 2019 and included stripping out, the demolition of a
dilapidated rear addition and removal of parts of the roof. The property dates from the late
18th Century being originally built as a single dwelling house. Parts of the building are known
to have been remodelled by Sir Edwin Lutyens. The building was last used by Chigwell
School and has been empty since late 2016, during which time the condition of the building
has deteriorated.
The main building is set some 33m back from the road edge with an informal parking area to
the front. There is a 30m deep rear garden which slopes down to the south east. The
application site is surrounded on three sides by residential properties, which would have
originally formed part of the wider plot of Grange Court, buildings to the north east believed to
have been stables and land to the rear a larger garden. The building lies opposite St Mary’s
Church Hall. A public footpath runs along the south-western site boundary between High
Road and Meadow Way.
The site and much of the surrounding area is within the Chigwell Conservation Area.
Description of Proposal:
The applications (section 73 applications varying the approved planning permission and listed
building consent drawings) seek amendments to a previously approved scheme for
extensions to and conversion of the existing building to provide 14 flats, 8 in the converted
building and 6 in the extension. The proposals include alterations to both the listed building
and the extension. Main changes within the listed building comprise:
-

-

-

Installation of a lift into the centre of the listed building, including associated works of a
lift shaft through all floors and overrun at roof level
Alterations to the entrance to the building. This would now be located on the front of
the building through the existing portico with the formation of a new entrance passage
to the lift.
An infill ground floor extension in front of the location of the approved entrance (on the
east side of the building) to enlarge flat G2 from a one-bedroom unit to a two-bedroom
unit.
Internal reconfiguration of flat G3 extending to incorporate part of the communal
hallway.
Removal of the centre part of the roof to create a roof terrace and to house the lift
overrun.

Within the extension, key alterations include:
-

Increase in the length of the building of around 825mm
Formation of a basement area below the stair and lift core and relocation of the lift
Elevational changes to the south west elevation including flush rather than projecting
balconies at ground and first floor, fenestration alterations at ground and first floor and
additional windows in the mansard roof, and revisions to the link block glazing.

Page 27

-

-

Elevational changes to the north-east elevation, replacing four projecting bays with
two wider bays (of similar overall width, removal of first floor stairwell window and
installation of larger high-level window at roof level, and revisions to the link block
glazing consistent with the south west elevation.
Installation of bedroom windows in the rear elevation on all floors.

The frontage layout at this stage shows 20 parking spaces, and provision for refuse and cycle
storage in the same positions as approved previously.
Relevant History:
There are various historic applications including more recently
:
EPF/1406/10 Conversion of Grange Court, Chigwell School from a boarding house to a PrePrep School, including a new single storey extension, internal and external
refurbishment and associated landscaping works. (Revised application) –
Refused and dismissed at appeal. The related Listed Building Consent
application (EPF/1408/10) was similarly refused and dismissed at appeal
EPF/3367/16 Conversion, extension and partial demolition of existing building to provide 14
flats with associated parking and landscaping. – Refused on grounds of the
impact of extensions on adjoining properties, the harm caused by extensions
to the special character of the building and the impact on the Conservation
Area from loss of trees.
A related Listed Building application (EPF/3372/16) was also refused on
design of the extensions, lack of information on specific listed building works
and viability, and inappropriate sub-division of some elements of the building.
EPF/3264/17 Conversion, extension and partial demolition of existing building to provide 14
flats with associated parking and landscaping. Change of use from residential
school building (Use Class C2) to residential (Use Class C3). This and the
related Listed Building consent application (EPF/3275/17) were approved in
March 2018.

Policies Applied:
Adopted Local Plan:
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990 Act"),
requires that in determining any planning application regard is to be had to the provisions of
the Development Plan, so far as is material to the application and to any other material
planning considerations.
Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan currently comprises the Epping
Forest District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006).
The following policies within the current Development Plan are considered to be of relevance
to this application:
CP1
CP2
CP5

Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives
Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment
Sustainable Building

Page 28

CP6
CP7
HC1
HC6
HC7
HC10
HC12
HC13
H2A
H4A
DBE1
DBE2
DBE3
DBE8
LL8
LL10
LL11
ST1
ST2
ST4
ST5
ST6

Achieving sustainable urban development patterns
Urban Form and Quality
Scheduled monuments and other archaeological sites
Character, Appearance and setting of Conservation Areas
Development within Conservation Areas
Works to Listed Buildings
Development affecting the setting of Listed Buildings
Change of use of Listed Buildings
Previously Developed Land
Dwelling Mix
Design of New Buildings
Effect on Neighbouring Properties
Design in Urban Areas
Private Amenity Space
Works to preserved trees
Adequacy of provision for landscape retention
Landscaping schemes
Location of Development
Accessibility of development
Road Safety
Travel Plans
Vehicle Parking

NPPF (February 2019):
The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or "NPPF")
was published in February 2019. It provides the framework for producing Local Plans for
housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against which applications
for planning permission are decided.
Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the NPPF
explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing the
development plan, and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning policies
and decisions must also reflect relevant international obligations and statutory
requirements.2"
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable development
and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed 6; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole."
Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

Page 29

In summary, the effect of footnote 7 is that where a local planning authority is unable to
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites in accordance with paragraph 73
of the NPPF, or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (that is less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three
years, “the policies which are most important for determining the application” are deemed to
be “out-of-date”, so that the presumption in favour of sustainable development applies and
planning permission should be granted unless either sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) is satisfied.
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 6 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of particular
importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176) and/or
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, or Local
Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets
of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); and areas at risk of
flooding.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not, however, change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. In
accordance with paragraph 213 of the NPPF and subject to paragraph 11 d) and footnote 7
referred to above, policies in the development plan should not be considered out-of-date
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight
should be given to such policies according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in
other words, the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given to them)
In addition to paragraph 11, the following paragraphs of the NPPF are considered to be of
relevance to this application:
2 – Achieving sustainable development – paragraphs 10, 12
5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
12 – Achieving well designed places – paragraphs 128, 130
16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – paragraphs 189 -196, 198, 199
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017:

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District Local Plan
(2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the Secretary of State and the
Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in
the determination of planning applications.
The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018. The
Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held examination
hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the examination process, the
Council has asked the Local Plan inspector to recommend modifications of the LPSV to
enable its adoption.
During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the LPSV were
'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public consultation in
due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2 August 2019, the
Inspector provided the Council with advice on the soundness and legal compliance of the
LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter, the Inspector concluded that, at this stage,
further Main Modifications (MMs) of the emerging Local Plan are required to enable its
adoption and that, in some cases, additional work will need to be done by the Council to
establish the precise form of the MMs.

Page 30

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as material to
the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of the Framework, the
LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
a)
The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation,
the greater the weight that may be given);
b)
The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
c)
The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies
in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given).22"
Footnote 22 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan is
being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as is the
case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the previous version of the
Framework published in March 2012.
As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage, subject to
the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant weight should be
accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of Framework.

The following policies in the LPSV are considered to be of relevance to the determination of
this application, with the weight afforded by your officers in this particular case indicated:
POLICY
SP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SP7 Natural Environment, landscape character and
green infrastructure
H1
Housing mix and accommodation types
DM7 Heritage Assets
DM8 Heritage at risk
DM9 High Quality Design
DM10 Housing design and quality
DM15 Managing and reducing flood risk
DM19 Sustainable water use
DM22 Air Quality

WEIGHT AFFORDED
Significant
Significant
Some
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant
Significant

Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received
Date of site visit:
01 August and 22 November 2019
Number of neighbours consulted:
29
Site notice posted:
22 November 2019
Responses received:
No response received from neighbours.
Parish Council:
Chigwell Parish Council have commented and strongly supports the
application, ‘because this project would allow the restoration of a significant Grade II* listed
building, which is an important part of Chigwell’s heritage’.
Other statutory consultee comments:
Historic England have objected to the application, which it argues would result in an
unjustified harm to the historic building. It has been demonstrated by the original application
that a sustainable re-use of this former school building by conversion to multiple residential
use can be achieved while avoiding this level of harm. The level of harm in the consented
scheme was noted by us at the time as considerable. These proposed amendments would

Page 31

significantly increase loss of historic fabric and disruption of legibility of the original plan form.
Such an increase in harm would be significant, and is clearly not acceptable when considered
against the considerations set out in the NPPF.
The introduction of the roof terraces would require considerable further harm, from the
redesign of the historic roof-form of the listed building, and introduce alien forms not usually
associated with houses of this age and distinction. In preventing the restoration of the roof in
its original form, in all its complexity, it would block works essential to reinstate an important
part of the listed building, that has been dismantled, we understand, without appropriate
consent, that was indicative of the building’s significance would be permanently lost.
Internally the introduction of the lift at the centre of the main block raises concerns relating to
its impact on the historic plan-form of the building, and surviving historic fabric and finishes. A
lift located in such a prominent position within the original house would have a considerable
visual presence. It would impact on key historic spaces and result in the loss of historic fabric
of walls, floors and ceilings that would need to be broken through to form new openings. The
new lift enclosure would involve the subdivision of the central room on the garden front of the
house on the ground and first floors. Both of these rooms are spaces of considerable
historical interest, with surviving historic proportions and joinery. The changes, if they were to
be carried out, would destroy the ability to appreciate the rooms as historical spaces, and
would displace or conceal a proportion of the original joinery and other interior features. This
would adversely affect the future understanding and appreciation of the historic building.
Main Issues and Considerations:
The primary considerations with the applications is the impact of the alterations of the historic
fabric and character of the Listed Building. Changes to the extension have been considered
in the context of the relationship with surrounding properties and the alterations to the
elevational treatments.
Listed Building issues

The significance of Grange Court
Grange Court was built in 1774; it has a handsome Georgian façade of classical design.
Internally the majority of the principal rooms survive without subdivision and with important
architectural features. The buff brick house with red brick and stucco dressings was
refurbished by Sir Edwin Lutyens for his friend Sir Charles Baring in the early 20th century.
The grand status of the house is reflected by the large drive at the front. The site has a long
and complex history and played a prominent role in the history of the settlement of Chigwell.
It is the completeness of the plan form, quality of the architecture and the building’s clear
legibility as a fine example of its Georgian type, overlaid with Edwardian work that makes it
deserving of its grade II* listed status. This places it in the top 5.5% of buildings in the
country.

Sir Edwin Lutyens
Sir Edwin Lutyens (1869-1944) was initially an Arts and Crafts architect, who became known
for being able to imaginatively adapt traditional designs to the requirements of his clients. He
is responsible for many country houses, public buildings and war memorials and has been
described as equal to that of the best domestic architects of his time.
Evolution of development proposals
The initial applications for the development were refused in 2017 when both the Council and
Historic England raised concerns that the level of intervention to the historic building was
excessive. The approved scheme approved in 2018 was developed after comprehensive and
cooperative discussions aimed at finding a viable development option for the site. This

Page 32

included substantial works to the roof frame including removal of joists, works to improve
structural safety, extensive repairs and the installation of a steel frame. These works did not
include removal of any part of the external roof cladding or the frame however, and the
removal of the roof that has taken place is considered to be unlawful. A schedule of
reinstatement works has been sought but has not been forthcoming.
The extent of the works undertaken to date could be argued to be materially different to the
approved scheme, particularly in the context that no applications have been submitted
seeking to discharge conditions on the approved scheme.
In this context, the key amendments to the proposals are considered further.
Insertion of the lift within the Listed Building
As part of Historic England (HE) guidance, the location of a lift into a historic building should
be considered carefully. The guidance states that:
“Passenger and platform lifts are best located in the less-sensitive parts of historic buildings, for
example secondary staircases and light wells or in areas that have already been disturbed or altered.
Pits and openings for lift shafts should be carefully located to avoid loss or damage to significant
timbers, archaeological remains or decorative surfaces.”
The intended location of the passenger lift in Grange Court is through the central core of the
historic building, and therefore cannot be considered to be located in a less sensitive part of
the building and would in fact result in changes to the layout configuration and as a result will
cause irreversible loss of historic fabric by way of loss of timbers and decorative surfaces in
the form of original floors, ceilings, cornicing and panelling will be lost over the full three
storeys. This is contrary to the more considerate approach that had been taken in the
approved 2017 scheme where, for example, bathroom “pods” standing short of the existing
ceiling height to preserve historic cornicing and ceiling, had been agreed.
Grange Court has undergone several phases of development which are still readable today.
This is due to the fact that these successive architectural interventions have respected and
worked with the building to add to it, increasing the building’s significance over time. This
historic layout is particularly vulnerable to inappropriate changes.
The consent granted in 2017 ensured that the layout of Grange Court, as a typical Georgian
mansion, was still readable after its conversion. As a compromise, it was agreed to lose the
line of sight (front to garden circulation) and to insert a door (at a natural break point) between
the Lutyens staircase and corridor.
The insertion of the lift will cause changes to the historic layout that will result in the loss of
significant plan forms. Amongst these changes is the creation of a new communal entrance
hall through the partitioning of the original entrance vestibule. This will distort the reading of
this historic entrance room and sense of space, eroding its status. Evidence for the entirety of
this room is demonstrated through the heights of the dado around the room. The height of the
dado to the left of the entrance door (on entering) is the original (Georgian) height. The dado
to the rest of the room, which is higher, is a later replacement fitting. This is confirmed
through the photographs in the applicants’ submitted Ground Floor Historic Analysis report.
A further impact of providing access to the lift is the division of the Lutyens corridor and
staircase which will diminish the appreciation of their presence and completeness. This
includes the inclusion of part of the corridor into apartment G3, and in the north-eastern part
of the building, a room designed by Lutyens has been split into two spaces with a staircase
inserted into one half. This would result in a further fragmentation of the internal layout
through partitioning and loss of historic fabric harming the original intention of the room, its
volume and completeness. This will prevent these significant areas from being fully

Page 33

experienced. This is in your officers view the additional contribution of these areas, designed
by Lutyens, that makes Grange Court of more than special interest and designated at grade
II*.
The level of harm resulting from the loss of interior features and structural elements is
considered to be unacceptable as it would irreversibly diminish and erode the significance
and character of the building.
Alterations to the original roof
At roof level, a significant section in the centre of the building is proposed to be removed to
allow the formation of a pair of terraces connected through a communal hallway and the lift
overrun which will also create a new structure on the roof. No sections accompany the
application to detail the extent of these elements in a wider context. However, the introduction
of the roof terraces would require considerable further harm, from the redesign of the historic
roof-form of the listed building, and introduce alien forms not usually associated with houses
of this age and distinction. In preventing the restoration of the roof in its original form, in all its
complexity, it would block works essential to reinstate an important part of the listed building.
These changes will give the roof an uncharacteristic and unexpected form which, despite not
being visible from the immediate street frontage, will irreversibly alter its significance and may
be visible from wider perspectives.
Ground floor infill extension
An infill extension is indicated at ground floor behind the front façade of the listed building to
provide a new entrance and additional floorspace to Flat G-2. This would result in the loss of
18th & 19th century external wall due to the opening up of the internal space within this flat.
The flank wall is proposed to be rendered with a monopitch roof, elements inconsistent with
the remainder of the elevational treatment. No reference is made to this significant alteration
or its impact on both the historic layout and fabric of the building in the application
documents, as required by paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2019).
Changes to the form of the extension
The principle of adding a large extension has been accepted and the minor increase in the
overall footprint is not considered significant. Other elements however raise concerns at the
balance between the financial need for the extension and the potential impact of the form,
scale and mass on the listed building;
-

-

-

The glazed link connecting the original building and the new extension has an
increased number of glazing bars obfuscating the intention of a minimalist design
approach. This creates an unwanted greater closeness between the listed building
and the new extension and reinforces the dominance of the extension over the
original building and the rear façade. This is a particularly sensitive location as the
part of the listed building where the link is attached, stands lower. A much clearer
separation was supported previously with a frameless link, denoting the old from the
new and reducing the pressure on the rear façade.
The inset elements around the windows have been overly enlarged in height and
width and are no longer in line with the adjacent openings, which results in a less neat
façade composition.
The increase in the number of dormers, added to a change in the roof profile adds to
the bulk of the roof.

Page 34

-

The north-east elevation has been over simplified by the reduction in the number of
projecting bays. This now reads more as a back of the building rather than an integral
part of a holistic built form

These issues are supported by Historic England’s assessment of the proposals. Officers
conclude that the proposals would cause an unacceptable level of harm to the significance of
the grade II* listed building, irreversibly eroding its historic fabric, layout and built form.
Impact on neighbours
Adjacent properties located to the north-east and south-east are most directly affected by the
proposed extension. As discussed above, the north-east elevation has been significantly
simplified and now reads very much as the back of the development. The alterations to the
form have improved the layout of the flats internally and this needs to be balanced against the
potentially harmful impact of the limited elevational interest. If members are minded to
approve the principle, this matter could in your officer’s view be addressed by breaking up the
elevation with further detailing.
The overall scale of the building is consistent with the previously approved scheme where the
overall height was approved ad not substantially impacting on daylight and sunlight. The
minor increase in depth of around 825mm is in the context of the overall scale of the building
not considered to have a material additional impact.
Bedroom windows are also introduced into the rear face of the building, previously a blank
façade. The windows do not face directly into habitable rooms and a minimum separation of
18m remains. As such limited impact from overlooking will result.
Epping Forest SAC
The site lies within 3km of the Epping Forest SAC. However, as the application proposes
amendments to an extant permission and does not propose additional residential units, no
additional impact beyond that already considered will result.
Conclusion:
Grange Court is a fine example of a Georgian residence. Alterations of considerable
significance, and more than local note, were carried out by Sir Edwin Lutyens, one of
Edwardian England’s most acclaimed architects, and have contributed to the building’s
significance, reflected in its listing at Grade II*. Members should give considerable weight in
considering the application to the comments made by Historic England who have objected
strongly to the application.
The need to refurbish the building to secure its long-term future has been recognised, both in
the support for the enabling development and in the previously agreed alterations to the listed
building. Nothing in the application suggests that approved scheme is not capable of
implementation.
However, the proposed amendments amount to a significant and harmful intervention to the
existing building, introducing alien, evidently modern features out of context with the
character and history, and disrupting the legibility of the historic form notwithstanding any
historic alterations and the works previously agreed. The result would irreversibly erode its
significance through the loss of its historic layout, building form and historic fabric.
The alterations to the extension have resulted in changes to the relationship between the
listed building and the extension. In particular, the changes to the link block have clouded the
separation between the historic building and the new addition, and the over simplification of

Page 35

the north-east elevation results in a more bulky built form not in keeping with the character of
the site. While these matters may be capable of further evolution, in the context of the other
elements in the application these add to the significance of the impact of the extension on the
listed building.
Officers consider that the extensive harm to the listed building clearly outweighs any limited
benefits from the proposals. Procedurally however, Members should be aware that should
they reach a different view, then the application would need to be referred to the Secretary of
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government under Section 13 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and related directions due to the
unresolved objection from Historic England.
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the Monday preceding the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 36

Agenda Item 11

Epping Forest District Council

EFDC

12
2a

EFDC
Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Application Number:

EPF/2764/19

Site Name:

11 Key West Court Block B
120 High Road Chigwell
Essex IG7 5AR
1:500

Scale of Plot:

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 37

APPLICATION No:

EPF/2764/19

SITE ADDRESS:

11 Key West Court Block B
120 High Road
Chigwell
Essex
IG7 5AR

PARISH:

Chigwell

WARD:

Chigwell Village

APPLICANT:

Mr & Mrs Atkin

DESCRIPTION OF
PROPOSAL:

Proposed erection of an open sided car port over car
parking spaces.

RECOMMENDED
DECISION:

Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=630498

CONDITIONS

1

The development hereby permitted will be retained strictly in
accordance with the approved drawings numbers: 370-PL-01 to 03,
and1024/190801

2

The open sides of the car port hereby permitted shall be permanently
retained in that form while the structure remains in situ, no form of
enclosure, including any fencing or other means of enclosure shall be
inserted into or around the structure without the prior consent of the
Local Planning Authority.

This application is before this Committee since it is for a type of development that cannot be
determined by Officers if more than five objections are received (or in cases where less than
5 were consulted, a majority of those consulted object) on grounds material to the planning
merits of the proposal (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part 3: Scheme of Delegation to Officers
from Full Council).
Description of Site:
The application site lies within a recently constructed flatted development on the south-east
side of the High Road, around 100m south of Chigwell Station. The site comprises two
buildings; a frontage block of part two, part three storeys containing 10 flats with an
underground car park, and a two-storey detached building to the rear comprising two flats.
The site access is at the southern end of the plot.
The site lies in a predominantly residential area comprising a mix of accommodation types. A
wide grass verge runs along the site frontage outside the site boundary.

Page 38

Description of Proposal:
The application seeks to retain a car port structure erected on the south-west side of the rear
block, over the two parking spaces allocated to the ground floor flat therein.
The car port comprises of an open timber frame structure 5.6m deep and 5.4m wide. It has a
half-hipped roof finished in black slate 2.3m high at eaves and 3.6m high at ridge, and is set
around 3m from the closest part of the rear building and in excess of 20m from the frontage
building.
Relevant History:
Redevelopment of the site which originally contained a single dwelling into the present form
was allowed on appeal in 2015.
Policies Applied:
Adopted Local Plan:
Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan currently comprises the Epping
Forest District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006).
The following policies within the current Development Plan are considered to be of relevance
to this application:

CP2
DBE2
DBE9
DBE10

Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment
Effect on neighbouring properties
Loss of Amenity
Residential Extensions

NPPF (February 2019):
The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or "NPPF")
was published in February 2019. It provides the framework for producing Local Plans for
housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against which applications
for planning permission are decided.
Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the NPPF
explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing the
development plan, and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning policies
and decisions must also reflect relevant international obligations and statutory
requirements.2"
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable development
and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:

Page 39

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed 6; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole."
Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.
In summary, the effect of footnote 7 is that where a local planning authority is unable to
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites in accordance with paragraph 73
of the NPPF, or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (that is less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three
years, “the policies which are most important for determining the application” are deemed to
be “out-of-date”, so that the presumption in favour of sustainable development applies and
planning permission should be granted unless either sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) is satisfied.
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 6 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of particular
importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176) and/or
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, or Local
Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets
of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); and areas at risk of
flooding.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not, however, change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. In
accordance with paragraph 213 of the NPPF and subject to paragraph 11 d) and footnote 7
referred to above, policies in the development plan should not be considered out-of-date
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight
should be given to such policies according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in
other words the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given to them)
In addition to paragraph 11, the following paragraphs of the NPPF are considered to be of
relevance to this application:
2 – Achieving sustainable development – paragraphs 10, 12
5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
12 – Achieving well designed places – paragraphs 128, 130
16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment – paragraphs 189 -196, 198, 199

Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017:

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District Local Plan
(2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the Secretary of State and the
Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in
the determination of planning applications.
The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018. The
Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held examination

Page 40

hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the examination process, the
Council has asked the Local Plan inspector to recommend modifications of the LPSV to
enable its adoption.
During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the LPSV were
'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public consultation in
due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2 August 2019, the
Inspector provided the Council with advice on the soundness and legal compliance of the
LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter, the Inspector concluded that, at this stage,
further Main Modifications (MMs) of the emerging Local Plan are required to enable its
adoption and that, in some cases, additional work will need to be done by the Council to
establish the precise form of the MMs.
Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as material to
the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of the Framework, the
LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
a)
The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation,
the greater the weight that may be given);
b)
The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
c)
The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies
in the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the
greater the weight that may be given).22"
Footnote 22 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan is
being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as is the
case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the previous version of the
Framework published in March 2012.
As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage, subject to
the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant weight should be
accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of Framework.
The following policies in the LPSV are considered to be of relevance to the determination of
this application, with the weight afforded by your officers in this particular case indicated:
POLICY
DM9 – High quality design
DM10 – Housing design and quality

WEIGHT AFFORDED
Significant
Significant

Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received
Date of site visit:
10 January 2019
Number of neighbours consulted:
Thirteen
Site notice posted:
No, not required
Responses received: Six responses have been received from neighbours at 2, 3, 4, 5, 10
and 12 KEY WEST COURT raising a number of issues:
-

Loss of outlook towards trees and secret garden at the rear (described by one
resident as ‘forest like views’)
The appearance of the structure – the surface areas are free from structures making
this car port unduly prominent and incongruous, which sets a precedent for other
structures.

Page 41

-

The visual impact arising from the proximity of the structure to no. 12 (the first floor flat
in the rear block.
Other matters not material to the determination of the application around fire risk,
possible encroachment and breach of lease conditions (matters for those with a legal
interest), and that the works are complete (not relevant to the planning merits.

Parish Council: Chigwell Parish Council had no objection to the application.
Main Issues and Considerations:
The structure is generally hidden from the street by the frontage block, and from neighbouring
houses by established trees and shrubs. Thus any impact from the structure will arise within
the site boundaries.
Viewed in isolation, the car port is evidently constructed in good quality materials and to a
high standard. Thus there are no objections to the built form in design terms.
Issues raised by neighbours appear to be more finely balanced. The first floor flat in the rear
block has a wrap-around corner balcony, part of which faces onto the structure, and two Juliet
balconies located on the side of the flat which have retained outlook. Introducing built form
where none currently exists clearly has a visual impact, but in this case, it is not considered to
cause significant harm – the eaves of the building is below the level of the balconies, and the
structure is a minimum of 3m from the nearest point of the corner balcony. There is therefore
neither obstruction to the outlook from the first floor flat nor any impact on light or creation of
overbearingness due to its scale or height. The views of the trees and landscape adjacent to
but outside of the site are not significantly affected but in any event loss of a view is not a
material planning consideration.
Residents in the main block lie more than 20m from the structure and although the car port is
built on higher ground, this provides ample separation. In terms of the general outlook from
rear windows, there are fences beyond the car port screening direct views over the shared
garden at the rear, and tree canopies remain visible at higher levels.
It is noted that residents raise concerns at the development setting a precedent, but it is
noted that most properties in the front block appear to have access to the underground car
park. Any other similar development would have to be considered on its merits and in relation
to the immediate surroundings; the siting of this development appears unique within the site.
Conclusion:
The application should be considered solely on its planning merits. Matters raised in respect
of the private legal rights of the leaseholders, and the early carrying out of the development
should not be given any weight.
The structure is considered of a satisfactory design and finish in the overall context of the
site. Introducing a structure where none exists has an impact, but due to the siting, away from
the flatted blocks, this impact is not considered to be so substantial that it would make the
development unacceptable.
As such, the development is considered to be consistent with policy objectives and could be
approved. A condition is appropriate to prevent the infilling of the open sides without
consideration of whether such a change in the character of the structure would have a
significantly greater impact.
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the Monday preceding the meeting at the latest:

Page 42

Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

